IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

| STATE OF IOWA, | |
|----------------------|---------------------|
| Plaintiff-Appellee, |)) |
| v. |) S.CT. NO. 17-1822 |
| JUSTIN COLE MOORE, | |
| Defendant-Appellant. | |
| | |

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR FAYETTE COUNTY HONORABLE JOHN BAUERCAMPER, JUDGE (JURY TRIAL & SENTENCING)

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARK C. SMITH State Appellate Defender

VIDHYA K. REDDY Assistant Appellate Defender vreddy@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in failing to object to Jury Instruction 15, which incorrectly instructs jurors that they could consider Defendant's out-of-court statements "just as if they had been made at this trial"?

Authorities

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778, 784 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 556 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 494 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164, 171 (Iowa 2011)

Iowa Code § 814.7(2)–(3) (2015)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. 1, § 10

State v. Brothern, 832 N.W.2d 187, 192 (Iowa 2013)

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856, 866 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Hopkins, 576 N.W.2d 374, 379-80 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435–36 (Iowa 1983)

Washington v. Scurr, 304 N.W.2d 231, 235 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Leckington, 713 N.W.2d 208, 218 (Iowa 2006)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984)

State v. Carrillo, 597 N.W.2d 497, 500 (Iowa 1999)

Osborn v. State, 573 N.W.2d 917, 922 (Iowa 1998)

Iowa State Bar Ass'n, Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction No. 200.44 (2015)

Comment, Iowa State Bar Ass'n, Iowa Criminal Jury Instructions No. 200.44 (2015)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801 (2015)

State v. Bayles, 55 N.W.2d 600, 606 (Iowa 1996)

Laurie Kratky Doré, 7 Iowa Practice Series, Evidence 5.801:9 (Nov. 2016)

Fed. R. Evid. 801(d) advisory committee note

Iowa R. Evid. 5.804(b)(3) (2015)

Jewel v. CSX Transp., Inc., 135 F.3d 361, 365 (6th Cir. 1998)

United States v. DiDomenico, 78 F.3d 294, 303 (7th Cir. 1996)

Iowa State Bar Ass'n, Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction No. 200.42 (2015)

Iowa State Bar Ass'n, Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction No. 200.43 (2015)

Iowa State Bar Ass'n, Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction No. 200.16 (2015)

U.S. District Court District of Maine, Pattern Criminal Jury Instructions for the District Courts of the First Circuit (2017), http://www.med.uscourts.gov/pattern-jury-instructions

Committee on Model Criminal Jury Instructions Third Circuit, Model Criminal Jury Instructions (2017), http://www.ca3.uscourts.gov/model-jury-instructions

Committee on Pattern Jury Instructions, District Judges Association, Fifth Circuit Pattern Jury Instructions (Criminal Cases) (2015), http://www.lb5.uscourts.gov/juryinstructions

Sixth Circuit Committee on Pattern Jury Instructions, Pattern Criminal Jury Instructions (2017), http://www.ca6.uscourts.gov/pattern-jury-instructions

Committee on Federal Criminal Jury Instructions for the Seventh Circuit, Pattern Criminal Jury Instructions of the Seventh Circuit (2012),

http://www.ca7.uscourts.gov/pjury.pdf

Judicial Committee On Model Jury Instructions for the Eighth Circuit, Manual of Model Criminal Jury Instructions for the Eighth Circuit (2014),

http://www.juryinstructions.ca8.uscourts.gov/criminal_instructions.htm

Ninth Circuit Jury Instructions Committee, Manual of Model Criminal Jury Instructions (2017), http://www3.ce9.uscourts.gov/jury-instructions/ model-

http://www3.ce9.uscourts.gov/jury-instructions/ modelcriminal

Criminal Pattern Jury Instruction Committee of the United States Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit, Criminal Pattern Jury Instructions (2017), http://www.ca10.uscourts.gov/clerk/orders

Judicial Council of the Eleventh Circuit, Eleventh Circuit Pattern Jury Instructions (Criminal Cases) (2016), http://www.call.uscourts.gov/pattern-jury-instructions

State v. Yenger, No. 17-0592, 2018 WL 3060251, at *6 (Iowa Ct. App. June 20, 2018)

State v. Payne, No. 16-1672, 2018 WL 1182624, at *11-12 (Iowa Ct. App. March 7, 2018)

State v. Robinson, 859 N.W.2d 464, 490 (Iowa 2015)

II. Whether counsel rendered ineffective assistance in failing to object to the omission of and request a jury instruction defining "reasonable degree of medical certainty"?

Authorities

State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Risdal, 404 N.W.2d 130, 131 (Iowa 1987)

U.S. Const. amend VI

Iowa Const. art. I, §10

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984)

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 556 (Iowa 2015)

Snethen v. State, 308 N.W.2d 11, 14 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Hopkins, 576 N.W.2d 374, 379-80 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Deases, 518 N.W.2d 784, 792 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Goff, 342 N.W.2d 830, 837-38 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Webb, 309 N.W.2d 404, 413 (Iowa 1981)

Commonwealth v. Stoltzfus, 337 A.2d 873 at 879 (1975)

Lewin, The Genesis and Evolution of Legal Uncertainty about "Reasonable Medical Certainty", 57 Md. L. Rev. 380, 402-403 (1998)

Restatement (Third) of Torts: Phys. & Emot. Harm § 28, subsection (a) comment (e) (2010)

Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014)

III. Whether the portion of the sentencing order directing Defendant to pay jail fees must be removed by way of a nunc pro tunc order, as it fails to conform to the oral pronouncement of sentence? Additionally, whether the district court erred in ordering Defendant to pay court costs and jail fees without making any ability to pay determination?

Authorities

State v. Cooley, 587 N.W.2d 752, 754 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Janz, 358 N.W.2d 547, 549 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Campbell, No. 15-1181, 2016 WL 4543763, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 31, 2016)

State v. Pace, No. 16-1785, 2018 WL 1629894, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. April 2, 2018)

State v. Van Hoff, 415 N.W.2d 647, 648 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 626 (Iowa 2009)

1). Nunc Pro Tunc (Jail Fees):

State v. Hess, 533 N.W.2d 525, 527-529 (Iowa 1995)

2). Illegal Sentence and Abuse of Discretion (Jail Fees and Court Costs):

Iowa Code section 910.2(1) (2015)

State v. Wagner, 484 N.W.2d 212, 215-16 (Iowa Ct. App. 1992)

State v. Campbell, No. 15-1181, 2016 WL 4543763, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 31, 2016)

State v. Van Hoff, 415 N.W.2d 647, 648 (Iowa 1987)

Goodrich v. State, 608 N.W.2d 774, 776 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 871 (Iowa 2009)

Tindell v. State, 629 N.W.2d 357, 359 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Van Hoff, 415 N.W.2d 647, 648 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Coleman, 907 N.W.2d 124, 149 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 615 (Iowa 2009)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the issues raised in Divisions I and II involve substantial issues of first impression or of enunciating or changing legal principles in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c) & (f).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal by Defendant-Appellant Justin Cole Moore from his jury trial conviction for Child Endangerment Resulting in Serious Injury, a Class C Forcible Felony in violation of Iowa Code sections 726.6(1) and 726.6(5) (2015).

Course of Proceedings: On September 27, 2016, the State charged Moore with Child Endangerment Resulting in Serious Injury, a Class C Forcible Felony in violation of Iowa Code sections 726.6(1)(a) and 726.6(5) (2015). The Trial Information was later amended to reflect the State would be relying on the alternatives set forth in both section 726.6(1)(a) and section 726.6(1)(b) (2015) of the statute. (9/27/16 TI;

9/5/17 Mot. to Amend TI) (App. pp. 11-13); (Trial Vol.1 p.107 L.2-p.109 L.22); (9/7/17 Order Amending TI) (App. pp. 14-15).

Moore entered a plea of not guilty and ultimately waived his right to speedy trial. (10/16/16 Written Arraignment; 10/11/16 Waiver of Speedy) (App. pp. 7-10). A jury trial commenced on September 7, 2017. (Trial Vol.1 p.1 L.1-25, p.4 L.1-6). On September 11, the jury returned a verdict finding Moore guilty of the offense as charged. (Trial Vol.3 p.1 L.1-25, p.66 L.13-p.67 L.3).

A sentencing hearing was held on October 30, 2017. At that time, the court imposed judgment against Moore for Child Endangerment Resulting in Serious Injury, a Class C Felony in violation of Iowa Code sections 726.6(1) and 726.6(5) (2015). Noting the offense was a forcible felony carrying mandatory prison, the court sentenced Moore to an indeterminate term of incarceration not to exceed 10 years. The court imposed but suspended a \$1,000 fine and 35% surcharge, and found Moore not reasonably able to pay reimbursement of courtappointed attorney fees. However, the court ordered Moore to

pay all court costs and jail fees. Moore was also ordered to submit a DNA sample for profiling, and a five-year no contact order was entered with the victim. (Sent. Tr. p.4 L.9-p.7 L.6); (10/30/17 Order of Disposition) (App. pp. 23-25).

Moore filed a Notice of Appeal on November 9, 2017. (11/9/17 Certified NOA) (App. pp. 26-28).

Facts: On August 30, 2016 at approximately 9:30 p.m., two-year-old E.B.¹ was brought to the Mercy Hospital Emergency Room in Oelwein by his mother, Brianna. (Trial Vol.1 p.141 L.13-14, p.141 L.22-24, 143 L.17-22). Brianna told medical personnel that the child had been with her boyfriend (Justin Moore) while she had been at work; that the child had fallen off a bathroom stepstool by the toilet; that he had been fine at the time, and the boyfriend put him to bed; but when she got home the child wasn't moving. (Trial Vol.1 p.158 L.19-p.159 L.5).

Upon presenting to the Oelwein emergency room at 9:30 p.m., E.B. was breathing and his eyes were open but he was

¹ E.B. was just shy of his third birthday at that time. (Trial Vol.1 p.5-11).

gray and nonresponsive. E.B.'s stomach was rigid with no audible bowel sounds. Bruising was noted on his forehead, abdomen, back, and groin area, and possible injuries were noted on his lips. (Trail Vol. 1 p.145 L.12-16, p.145 L.24-p.146 L.8, p.150 L.4-10, p.155 L.1-12, p.159 L.3-p.161 L.24, p.162 L.25-p.163 L.4). The bruises on E.B.'s body were described as "[m]ultiple stages" of bruising, indicating they may have occurred over a period of time. (Trial Vol.1 p.161 L.25-p.162 L.24). E.B.'s mother testified that additional bruises started appearing on E.B.'s abdominal area while at the emergency room. (Trial Vol.2 p.97 L.6-22, p.108 L.7-22).

Just before being taken for body imaging at the Oelwein hospital, the previously nonresponsive E.B. woke up a little bit and asked for his toy, but he remained lethargic. (Trial Vol.1 p.151 L.11-15). He also vomited multiple times while at Oelwein hospital. (Trial Vol.1 p.157 L.8-14). Body imaging by CAT scans indicated E.B. had a bleed in his head, and free air in his abdomen. (Trial Vol.1 p.152 L.6-10).

E.B. was transported by helicopter to University of Iowa hospital in Iowa City, arriving there at approximately 11:40 p.m. on August 30. (Trial Vol.1 p.151 L.16-24, p.153 L.1-3; Vol.2 p.203 L.10-13). After medical staff verified the head injury did not prohibit surgery, E.B. underwent abdominal surgery performed by Dr. Julia Shelton. During surgery, a severe 350 degree tear was observed on E.B.'s small bowel, with only about 10 degrees of tissue keeping that intestine intact at that location. There were also more minor bruises, swelling or hematoma, and smaller tears or lacerations to the small bowel. (Trial Vol.2 p.194 L.11-p.196 L.2). The damaged 10-15 centimeter section of the bowel was removed during surgery, and the remaining bowel was sewed back together. (Trial Vol.2 p.196 L.21-p.197 L.6, p.198 L.8-10). E.B. thereafter had to be hospitalized for about three weeks and fed with a feeding tube to allow time for the intestine to heal. (Trial Vol.2 p.98 L.14-p.99 L.8, p.197 L.7-p.198 L.7).

Medical personnel, suspecting the child's injuries may

have been the result of physical abuse, contacted law enforcement to investigate the incident.

At the time of the incident, E.B. lived with his mother Brianna, his five-year-old brother S.B., and his mother's boyfriend Justin Moore, at a house in Oelwein, Iowa. (Trial Vol.2 p.69 L.13-p.70 L.6). E.B. and S.B. each had their own bedrooms, and Brianna and Justin shared a bedroom. (Trial Vol.2 p.71 L.7-11).

On August 31, law enforcement responded to E.B.'s residence, where they spoke with Justin and obtained his written consent to search the residence. At that time, Justin told DCI Agent Chris Calloway that he had been in the living room playing video games when he'd heard a loud bang or boom, went into the bathroom, and found E.B. on the floor with a bashed lip. (Trial Vol.2 p.5 L.9-11, p.7 L.4-p.9 L.8).

Justin left the house while law enforcement remained there searching the premises. Justin returned later around 3:00 or 3:30 looking to see whether a delivery he had been expecting had arrived. Agent Calloway requested and Justin

provided another interview at that time. That interview took place in Agent Calloway's unmarked vehicle parked in front of the house, and lasted approximately 1 hour and 45 minutes. (Trial Vol.2 p.24 L.10-18, p.25 L.2-23, p.26 L.22-p.27 L.3). Agent Calloway testified that Justin told him that the child's grandmother (Kris) had watched the child for most of the day while Brianna was at work. Kris dropped the child and his brother (S.B.) off at bedtime, and then left after they were asleep. Justin was home at the time but Brianna had not yet returned from work. Agent Calloway testified that, according to what Justin told him, there was approximately a twenty minute period of time between when Kris dropped the children off and when Brianna returned from work that Justin would have been home alone with the children. Justin told Agent Calloway that, during that time, he was sitting on the sofa playing video games when he heard a boom. He went back to the bathroom and saw E.B. splayed out on the floor with his pants down. E.B. had urinated on himself and had blood coming out of his mouth and lip, some of which got on the

carpet in the bathroom. (Trial Vol.2 p.30 L.9-p.31 L.14, p.31 L.23-25). Justin did not see the fall, but assumed that E.B. had fallen off of one of the step risers in front of the toilet while trying to urinate. (Trial Vol.2 p.34 L.23-p.35 L.9). Justin picked up E.B., tried to clean the blood off his mouth, and carried him into the master bedroom where he changed him into new pajamas (because his old ones had blood and urine on them). Justin was holding E.B. when he received a phone call on the house phone in the other room. (Trial Vol.2 p.32 L.1-15). Justin put E.B. down in the master bedroom and went to the other room to get the phone. It was Brianna calling advising she was coming home, and the conversation only lasted 20-30 seconds. Justin then went back to the master bedroom, and said E.B. was then on the ground seizing. E.B.'s eyes had rolled back, and he was lifeless, breathing but stiff. (Trial Vol.2 p.32 L.16-p.33 L.19). Justin picked up E.B., held him, and decided to keep him awake until Brianna (who was a nurse) came home, as he knew she would arrive shortly. Justin blew on E.B.'s face and

monitored him. (Trial Vol.2 p.33 L.24-p.34 L.3). Brianna arrived about ten minutes later and took E.B. to the emergency room. (Trial Vol.2 p.34 L.4-15).

After that interview with Agent Calloway, Justin left the house but returned back again at 7:30 that night while law enforcement was still present, again checking to see if his delivery had arrived. At Agent Calloway's request, Justin went into the house and answered some additional questions, including clarifying the location on the bathroom carpet where the spot of E.B.'s blood had been. Justin indicated the blood stain was underneath the area rug in the bathroom. Upon lifting the carpet, there was a stain underneath that appeared to be blood. (Trial Vol.2 p.35 L.18-p.37 L.23). Law enforcement thereafter completed their search of the residence. They noted the bathroom contained two step stools or risers in the vicinity of the toilet – one that was approximately 7 inches tall and the other being approximately 7 1/2 inches tall. (Trial Vol.2 p.16 L.9-19). The floor of the bathroom was carpeted, and contained an area rug over the

carpet. (Trial Vol.2 p.13 L.3-12). From a laundry basket of dirty clothes in the master bedroom, they collected: E.B.'s pajamas which had apparent blood on them as well as a possible urine stain around the crotch, a bath towel with possible blood, and a gray t-shirt belonging to Justin that also had possible blood on it. From E.B.'s room, they collected the sheets from the toddler bed, which appeared to have some possible blood on them as well. (Trial Vol.2 p.17 L.21-p.20 L.1).

While in the house on August 31, Oelwein Police Officer Ted Phillips entered and examined the bathroom to take measurements and diagram it. (Trial Vol.2 p.51 L.4-8, p.51 L.1-2, p.52 L.18-p.54 L.1). Officer Phillips identified a "blood spot" in the bathroom 15 inches above the floor. (Trial Vol.2 p.55 L.11-14, p.56 L.9-14); (Exhibit 60) (App. p. 16). DCI Agent Chris Calloway testified he believed that spot to be a chip in the paint, not blood. (Trial Vol.2 p.43 L.8-p.44 L.2). But Officer Phillips, a 20-year veteran of the police force, testified he'd seen a lot of blood spots and would think he

would recognize the difference between a paint chip and blood. (Trial Vol.2 p.56 L.21-p.57 L.5). None of the suspected blood from anywhere in the house was ever tested to confirm whether it was or was not in fact blood. (Trial Vol.2 p.49 L.3-7).

Agent Calloway, the DCI agent who had spoken with Justin on August 31, testified that he spoke with Justin again on September 2. First, in the morning, he spoke with Justin by telephone to coordinate another interview for later in the day. Agent Calloway testified that during the phone conversation, Justin indicated the gray t-shirt he'd been wearing (which had been collected from the master bedroom) would probably have blood on it. (Trial Vol.2 p.39 L.1-p.40 L.16). Second, later that morning, at about 10:30 a.m., Justin underwent a face-to-face interview with Agent Calloway. Agent Calloway testified that during that interview, Justin provided new or additional information in that Justin stated that, after the bathroom fall E.B. had run from the bathroom into E.B.'s bedroom and started jumping on the bed. Agent Calloway

testified that during the first interview, Justin had not mentioned E.B. being in his own room after the fall or jumping around on the bed after he'd fallen. (Trial Vol.2 p.40 L.17-p.41 L.20).

Brianna testified that she typically got off work at about 9:00 p.m., but couldn't leave until her replacement arrived. On the evening of August 30, she called Justin at 9:07 p.m. before she left work. Brianna testified that during that conversation, Justin said he was playing video games, said that the boys were asleep, and asked Brianna to stop at his mom's house on her way home to pick up some brownies she'd made. (Trial Vol.2 p.82 L.24-p.83 L.4, p.83 L.22-p.84 L.12, p.85 L.20-p.86 L.2).

Brianna left work shortly after that and called Justin again at 9:11 p.m. to tell him she'd left work. During that call, Justin told her that E.B. had woken up and gone to the bathroom, that Justin was in the living room playing video games when he heard a noise from the bathroom that sounded like something fell. Justin told her E.B. was injured and

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