IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 17-1822

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

JUSTIN COLE MOORE,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR FAYETTE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JOHN BAUERCAMPER, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

TYLER J. BULLER
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
tyler.buller@ag.iowa.gov

W. WAYNE SAUR
Fayette County Attorney

COLEMAN MCCALLISTER
Assistant Attorney General

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. Counsel Had No Duty to Object to the Jury Instruction Regarding the Defendant’s Statements. The Court of Appeals Has Consistently and Repeatedly Rejected this Argument.

Preservation of Error

The defendant asserts counsel was ineffective, which is an exception to the rules of error preservation. *See State v. Wills*, 696 N.W.2d 20, 22 (Iowa 2005).

Standard of Review

Allegations of ineffective assistance are reviewed de novo. *Wills*, 696 N.W.2d at 22.

Merits

The defendant's first argument relies entirely on unpublished dissents from the Court of Appeals to claim counsel was ineffective for not objecting to model instruction 200.44, which addresses a criminal defendant's out-of-court statements. Defendant's Proof Br. at 40–53. This claim is without merit. As discussed below, this claim has been consistently and repeatedly by the Court of Appeals. *See, e.g., State v. Garcia*, No. 17-0111, 2018 WL 3913668, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 15, 2018) (collecting cases). Counsel is not ineffective when he does not object to a legally accurate instruction that has been issued in hundreds of jury trials.

As a threshold matter, counsel did not breach an essential duty because the instruction did not misstate the law. Out-of-court admissions made by a party opponent, such as a defendant in a criminal case, are substantive evidence that may be considered for any purpose. *See Laurie Kratky Doré, 7 Iowa Practice Series: Evidence* § 5.801:9 (Westlaw 2018). The complained-about

instruction merely states this principle in a manner amenable to laypersons: a normal person does not know what “substantive evidence” means, but can understand that it is generally similar to other evidence heard at trial. The defendant urges this Court to undertake a willful misreading of the instruction, essentially arguing that instead of saying the jurors could consider the evidence “as if made at this trial,” they could consider the evidence as if made under oath and pursuant to the pains and penalty for perjury. Defendant’s Proof Br. at 49. The instruction does not say that. Rather, the instruction adequately states the law, as reinforced by the consistent, frequent, and repeated rejection of this claim by the Court of Appeals majority. *See, e.g., Garcia*, 2018 WL 3913668, at *4 (“We are persuaded by the reasoning of *Yenger* and the remaining cited opinions. We conclude counsel did not breach an essential duty in failing to object to the instruction.”); *State v. Lopez-Aguilar*, No. 17-0914, 2018 WL 3913672, at *8 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 15, 2018) (“This court has repeatedly found the challenged instruction to be a correct statement of the law and repeatedly rejected the same argument.”); *State v. Yenger*, No. 17-0592, 2018 WL 3060251, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. June 20, 2018) (“Although the challenged instructional language does

not appear in rule 5.801(d)(2), we believe it is a correct statement of the law.”); *State v. Vandekieft*, No. 17-0876, 2018 WL 2727720, at *8 (Iowa Ct. App. June 6, 2018) (“We find instruction number eight correctly states the law.”); *State v. Hayes*, No. 17-0563, 2018 WL 2722782, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. June 6, 2018) (“This court recently held this instruction correctly states the law and giving the instruction was not in error. ... Hayes cannot establish his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to instruction no. 14”); *State v. Payne*, No. 16-1672, 2018 WL 1182624, at *9 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 7, 2018) (“Clearly, the instruction was not an incorrect statement of the law, and the judge’s ruling was not in error.”); *State v. Wynn*, No. 16-2150, 2018 WL 769272, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 7, 2018) (“We find Jury Instruction 17 and Jury Instruction 21 were not improper and defense counsel had no obligation to object.”); *State v. Wineinger*, No. 16-1471, 2017 WL 6027727, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 22, 2017) (“Instruction No. 15 is a correct statement of law.”); *State v. Tucker*, No. 13-1790, 2015 WL 405970, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 28, 2015) (disagreeing with assertion that instruction was misleading).

But even if one could quibble about whether this statement was indeed accurate, counsel did not breach any essential duty for the

additional reason that breach of duty must be an objective comparative measurement, seeking to grade counsel's performance relative to prevailing professional norms. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984). Model instruction 200.44 has been given in hundreds of trials by scores of defense attorneys since the Bar Association adopted it in September of 2003. See ISBA Model Criminal Jury Instructions, Model Instruction 200.44 (revision date: 9/03). Contrary to the defendant's argument on appeal, counsel does not have a duty to advance every novel and likely frivolous argument. See *State v. Walker*, No. 11-1768, 2012 WL 5356103, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 31, 2012) ("Where there has been no previous occasion to rule on the issue and the objection is novel, we will not find counsel ineffective." (citing *State v. McKetterick*, 480 N.W.2d 52, 59 (Iowa 1992))).

Also, even if the defendant could prove that counsel breached an essential duty, he cannot prove prejudice. A minor revision in the language of this instruction would not have changed the course of the trial, particularly given that the defendant does not challenge the admissibility of his statements to the police. See *State v. Kissel*, No. 16-0887, 2017 WL 6032585, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 22, 2017)

(finding no prejudice from the same challenged jury instruction); *State v. Chinberg*, No. 16-1600, 2017 WL 6026718, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 22, 2017) (same). Moreover, the defendant's statements were largely cumulative and not a lynchpin of trial: the strongest evidence was the medical testimony in conjunction with the undisputed fact that the defendant had sole custody of E.B. in the approximately 30 minutes between Grandma Kris leaving and Brianna arriving home. No one argued that the defendant's statements to police were equivalent to sworn statements under oath, nor would they have: seasoned prosecutors (and jurors that deploy their common sense) know that a criminal defendant's statements are often most reliable when they are *not* in court trying to convince a jury of their innocence.

Finally, while the Court could preserve this claim for postconviction relief, it should instead reject this claim on the direct-appeal record. *See* Iowa Code § 814.7 (2015). In light of the consistent Court of Appeals decisions rejecting this claim, preserving it serves only to clog postconviction courts with meritless litigation.

II. Counsel Had No Duty to Request an Instruction Defining “Reasonable Degree of Medical Certainty” and No Such Instruction Would Have Been Given If Requested.

Preservation of Error

The defendant asserts counsel was ineffective, which is an exception to the rules of error preservation. *See State v. Wills*, 696 N.W.2d 20, 22 (Iowa 2005).

Standard of Review

Allegations of ineffective assistance are reviewed de novo. *Wills*, 696 N.W.2d at 22.

Merits

The defendant next makes the novel assertion that trial counsel had a heretofore-unknown duty to request a jury instruction defining “reasonable degree of medical certainty.” Defendant’s Proof Br. at 53–60. No legal authority supports the defendant’s contention and it should be summarily rejected.

So far as the State can tell, no court anywhere in the United States has required courts to instruct juries on the definition of “reasonable degree of medical certainty” in a criminal case. The defendant cites no such case. Defendant’s Proof Br. at 53–60. And it makes sense that courts would not want to impose a legal stricture on

top of this medical term: two different medical doctors testified in this trial and it would undoubtedly be error for a court to give an instruction that defines that term differently than the medical professionals would have. Indeed, the very law review article that the defendant stretches to support his argument confesses that there is no uniform identical definition for this term—“among judges, attorneys, or academic commentators.” Jeff L. Lewin, *The Genesis and Evolution of Legal Uncertainty About “Reasonable Medical Certainty,”* 57 Md. L. Rev. 380 (1998).

Given the total lack of authority supporting the defendant’s claim, his ineffective-assistance argument is self-defeating: counsel cannot be ineffective for declining to advance an argument that has never been recognized by any court, in any jurisdiction, in the history of the United States. And even if this Court were inclined to consider the merits of such an argument, counsel had no duty to press it. *Snethen v. State*, 308 N.W.2d 11, 16 (Iowa 1981) (“[I]t is not necessary to know what the law will become in the future to provide effective assistance of counsel.”).

The meager authorities marshaled by the defendant are of no help in the context of this case. He cites the Restatement of Torts and

Black's Law Dictionary, both of which involve definitions specifically tailored to proving causation by a preponderance of the evidence for torts. Defendant's Proof Br. at 56–57. This is a criminal case and the jury was instructed accordingly. *See generally* Jury Instrs.

Additionally, there is no reasonable probability of a different outcome because there is no reason to think that the district court judge would have given an instruction defining “reasonable degree of medical certainty.” Iowa has no model criminal jury instruction defining the concept. Nor does it appear any Iowa appellate court has ever considered whether such an instruction is required. Against this backdrop, it is almost inconceivable that a district court would have been willing to entertain crafting a definitional instruction from whole cloth and without appellate guidance. Thus, even if counsel had requested an instruction, it is not likely the request would have been granted.

Also, even if counsel had a duty to press this argument below *and* had convinced the court to issue a definition, there is no reason to believe that defining “reasonable degree of medical certainty” would have changed the course of trial. When compiling jury instructions, “[g]enerally understood words of ordinary usage need

not be defined.” *State v. Kellogg*, 542 N.W.2d 514, 516 (Iowa 1996).

Contrary to the defendant’s assertions, in this trial, “reasonable degree of medical certainty” involved the definition supplied by an ordinary dictionary:

1. **Reasonable** means “agreeable to reason or sound judgment,” “not exceeding the limit prescribed by reason,” and “moderate.”²
2. **Degree** means “a stage in a scale of intensity or amount.”³
3. **Medical** means “of or relating to the science or practice of medicine.”⁴
4. **Certainty** means “the state of being certain” or “something certain; an assured fact,” synonymous with “confidence” or “certitude.”⁵

So, taken in the aggregate, “reasonable degree of medical certainty” means a moderate amount of confidence in an opinion related to medicine. Ordinary jurors are capable of understanding this testimony and the jury did so here. *Cf. State v. Thompson*, 570

² *Reasonable*, dictionary.com, <https://www.dictionary.com/browse/reasonable?s=t> (last accessed Aug. 19, 2018).

³ *Degree*, DICTIONARY.COM, <https://www.dictionary.com/browse/degree?s=t> (last accessed Aug. 19, 2018).

⁴ *Medical*, DICTIONARY.COM, <https://www.dictionary.com/browse/medical?s=t> (last accessed Aug. 19, 2018).

⁵ *Certainty*, DICTIONARY.COM, <https://www.dictionary.com/browse/certainty?s=t> (last accessed Aug. 19, 2018).

N.W.2d 765, 768 (Iowa 1997) (holding that district court was not required to define “manifesting an extreme indifference to human life” was in jury instructions, jurors were capable of understanding the term). There is no reasonable probability of a different outcome if the definition of “reasonable degree of medical certainty” had been written into the instructions.

Finally, this Court could preserve the claim for development in postconviction litigation. Iowa Code § 814.7 (2015). However, given the lack of legal authority that supports this novel ineffective-assistance claim, the Court should instead deny it on direct appeal.

III. The Restitution Challenge is Premature and Does Not Warrant Reversal.

Motion to Dismiss/Failure To Exhaust

Under controlling Supreme Court precedent, the defendant has failed to exhaust his remedies for challenging his reasonable ability to pay, and his complaint cannot be heard:

... Iowa Code section 910.7 permits an offender who is dissatisfied with the amount of restitution required by the plan to petition the district court for a modification. **Unless that remedy has been exhausted, we have no basis for reviewing the issue in this court.**

State v. Jackson, 601 N.W.2d 354, 357 (Iowa 1999) (internal citation omitted, emphasis added); accord *State v. Swartz*, 601 N.W.2d 348, 354 (Iowa 1999).⁶ No 910.7 motion has been litigated in the district court related to this issue, nor had a plan of restitution been filed at the time of sentencing. See generally Docket Entries. Therefore, the defendant has not exhausted his remedies and cannot seek review. This portion of the appeal should be dismissed.

Preservation of Error

Error was not preserved. A challenge to the reasonable ability to pay is not an illegal-sentence challenge under the circumstances presented in this case. See *State v. Bullock*, No. 15-0982, 2017 WL 4049276, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 13, 2017) (citing *Jose v. State*, 636 N.W.2d 38, 45 (Iowa 2001)).

⁶ There is one published Court of Appeals case at odds with *Jackson* and *Swartz*: *State v. Kurtz*, 878 N.W.2d 469, 472 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016). *Kurtz* is wrongly decided. It concluded the *Jackson/Swartz* exhaustion rule did not apply based on citation to a single legal authority: *State v. Janz*, 358 N.W.2d 547, 549 (Iowa 1984). *Jackson* (1999) and *Swartz* (1999) both post-date *Janz* (1984) and are controlling. Also, *Jackson* was recently re-affirmed in *State v. Richardson*, 890 N.W.2d 609, 626 (Iowa 2017) (“We have previously held that ability-to-pay challenges to restitution are premature until the defendant has exhausted the modification remedy afforded by Iowa Code section 910.7.”).

Standard of Review

Review is for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Van Hoff*, 415 N.W.2d 647, 648 (Iowa 1987).

Merits

The defendant raises two restitution challenges, neither of which can be resolved on this record or warrant reversal. A nunc pro tunc order is inappropriate and unnecessary. And the reasonable-ability-to-pay challenge is premature because the plan of restitution is incomplete and no one knows the total amounts payable.

A. A nunc pro tunc order cannot be used to resolve the jail-fee issue. But a remand is unnecessary under the current state of the record.

While the defendant is correct that the written judgment imposes a jail fee and the court did not specifically address the jail fee at sentencing, the State does not agree that a nunc pro tunc order is the correct remedy. *See* Defendant’s Proof Br. at 61–62. “When judicial intent is unclear, we will remand for an evidentiary hearing for a determination of the proper method of correcting the defective written sentence.” *State v. Hess*, 533 N.W.2d 525, 527 (Iowa 1995). However, in this particular case, a remand is unnecessary on the current state of the record for the reasons discussed in Division III.B below: the jail fee was imposed contingent on certification by the

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